

**BYLAWS
OF
Kennedale Wildcat Theatre Booster Club, Inc.**

ARTICLE ONE

NAME, PURPOSES AND OFFICES

Section 1.1. Name. The name of this corporation is the Kennedale Wildcat Theatre Booster Club, Inc. (herein called the Corporation).

Section 1.2. Purposes. The Corporation is organized and will be operated exclusively for charitable purposes within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or the corresponding provisions or provision of any subsequent United States revenue law. Specifically, the corporation is established to: (1) aid and support the Kennedale High School Theatre Director and staff from Kennedale Junior High and James A. Arthur Intermediate; (2) provide inspiration, enthusiasm, guidance, and assistance to all theatre students in order to develop and sustain theatre programs at all levels; (3) secure closer contact and communication between parents, students, theatre staff, and the community; (4) foster closer ties between parents of younger students and high school students; (5) promote a theatrical culture in the community by increasing performance attendance and public support of theatre activities, along with moral support to the students.

Section 1.3. Offices. The Corporation may have, in addition to its registered office, offices at such other places, both within and without the State of Texas, as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine or as the activities of the Corporation may require.

Section 1.4. Members. The Corporation shall have no members. Notwithstanding that fact, the Corporation may establish categories of contributions that use the name "members" without creating any corporate rights in such contributors. Corporation may also establish endowments that restrict uses of funds, provided they are consistent with the purposes of the Corporation, and may seek input from contributors on the appropriateness of the use of funds, but neither shall create any rights as a member or similar to a member of the Corporation.

ARTICLE TWO

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 2.1. General Powers: Delegation. The activities, property and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors, who may exercise all such powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are permitted by statute or by the Certificate of Formation or by these Bylaws.

Section 2.2. Number and Qualifications. The Board of Directors shall consist of an odd number of directors, initially seven (7). The Directors shall be elected by the Board of Directors at its annual meeting. None of the directors need be residents of the State of Texas.

Section 2.3. Term of Office. The directors shall hold office for a term of 2 years, with the initial Directors' terms being staggered, so that approximately one-third of the Directors are elected each year. Any director may be reelected to such directorship for succeeding terms, there being no limit on the number of terms a director may serve.

Section 2.4. Filling of Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors resulting from the death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal from office of any directors or as the result of an increase in the number of directors shall be filled by Board of Directors, even though less than a quorum. Any director elected or appointed to fill a vacancy shall hold office until the end of the original term of office or until his resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal from office.

Section 2.5. Removal. Any director may be removed, either for or without cause at any time by a majority vote of the Board of Directors.

Section 2.6. Place of Meeting. Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such places, within or without the State of Texas, as may from time to time be fixed by the Board of Directors or as shall be specified or fixed in the respective notices or waivers of notice thereof.

Section 2.7. Annual Meetings. An annual meeting of the Board of Directors, commencing with the year 2021, shall be held in April of each year, at which they shall elect officers, and transact any and all other business as may properly come before the meeting. Written or printed notice stating the place, day, and hour of each annual meeting of the Board of Directors shall be delivered not less than two (2) or more than fifty (50) days before the date of such meeting, either personally, by mail, electronic mail or telecopy, by or at the direction of the President or Secretary, to each director entitled to vote at such meeting.

Section 2.8. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at such times and places as may be fixed from time to time by resolution adopted by the Board and communicated to all directors. Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Certificate of Formation, or these Bylaws, any all business may be transacted at any regular meeting.

Section 2.9 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President on one weeks' notice, either personally, by mail, electronic mail, or by telecopy. Special meetings shall be called by the President or Secretary in like manner and on like notice on the written request of two (2) or more directors. Except as may be otherwise expressly provided by statute or by the Certificate of Formation or by these Bylaws, neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.

Section 2.10. Quorum and Manner of Acting. At all meetings of the Board of Directors the presence of a majority of the number of directors then in office shall be necessary and sufficient to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, except as otherwise provided by statute, by the Certificate of Formation, or by these Bylaws. Directors present by proxy may not be counted toward a quorum. The act of a majority of the directors present in person or by proxy at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors unless the act of a greater number is required by statute, by the Certificate of Formation, or by these Bylaws, in which case the act of such greater number shall be requisite to constitute the act of the Board. A director may vote in person or by proxy executed in writing by the director. No proxy shall be valid after three months from the date of its execution. Each proxy shall be revocable unless expressly provided therein to be irrevocable and unless otherwise made irrevocable by law. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the directors, the directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present. At any such adjourned meeting any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally convened.

Section 2.11. Director's Compensation. No director shall receive compensation for his or her services as a director or as a member of a standing or special committee of the Board. Nothing herein contained shall be construed or preclude any director from receiving reimbursement for expenses incurred on behalf of the Corporation or in attending meetings of the Board of Directors or any such committee or from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.

Section 2.12. Consent of Directors. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee may be taken without a meeting, if a consent in writing setting forth the action to be taken shall be signed by all of the directors or all of the members of the committee, as the case may be. Such consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote, and may be stated as such in any document.

ARTICLE THREE

NOTICES

Section 3.1. Manner of Giving Notice. Whenever, under the provisions of the statute or of the Certificate of Formation or by these Bylaws, notice is required to be given to any director or committee member of the Corporation, and no provision is made as to how such notice shall be given, it shall not be construed to require personal notice, but any such notice may be given in writing by mail, postage prepaid, addressed to such director or member at his or her address as it appears on the records of the Corporation, or by electronic mail or telecopy to the electronic address or telecopy number of such director as it appears on the records of the Corporation. Any notice required or permitted to be given by mail shall be deemed to be delivered at the time when the same shall be thus deposited in the United States mails, as aforesaid, and any electronic or telecopy notice shall be deemed to be delivered when successfully sent.

Section 3.2. Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice is required to be given to any director or committee of the Corporation under the provisions of the statute or of the Certificate of Formation or of these Bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.

ARTICLE FOUR

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

The Board of Directors may, by resolution adopted by affirmative vote of a majority of the number of directors fixed by these Bylaws, designate two or more directors (with such alternates, if any, as may be deemed desirable) to constitute a committee or committees for any purpose; provided, that any such committee or committees shall have and may exercise only the power of recommending action to the Board of Directors and of carrying out and implementing any instructions or any policies, plans and programs theretofore approved, authorized and adopted by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE FIVE

OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS: POWERS AND DUTIES

Section 5.1. Elected Officers. The elected officers of the Corporation shall be a President and a Secretary and may include one or more Vice Presidents, as may be determined from time to time by the Board (and in the case of each such Vice President, with such descriptive title, if any, as the Board shall deem appropriate), and a Treasurer.

Section 5.2. Election. So far as is practicable, all elected officers shall be elected by the Board of Directors at each annual meeting thereof.

Section 5.3. Appointive Officers. The Board of Directors may also appoint one or more Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers and such other officers and assistant officers and agents as it shall from time to time deem necessary, who shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be set forth in these Bylaws or determined from time to time by the Board.

Section 5.4. Two or More Offices. Any two (2) or more offices may be held by the same person, except that the President and Secretary shall not be the same person.

Section 5.5. Term of Office; Removal; Filling of Vacancies. Each elected officer of the Corporation shall hold office for one year or until his earlier death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal from office. Any officer or agent may be removed at any time by the Board of Directors whenever in its judgment the best interests of the Corporation will be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person

so removed. If the office of any officer becomes vacant for any reason, the vacancy shall be filled by the Board of Directors. Any officer may be reelected to such office for succeeding terms.

Section 5.6. President. The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and, subject to the provisions of these Bylaws, shall have general supervision of the activities and affairs of the Corporation and shall have general and active control thereof. The President shall preside when present at meetings of the Board of Directors. He/she shall have general authority to execute bonds, deeds and contracts in the name of the Corporation and to affix the corporate seal thereto; to cause the employment or appointment of such employees and agents of the Corporation as the proper conduct of operations may require and to fix their compensation; to remove or suspend any employee or agent; and in general to exercise all the powers usually appertaining to the office of president of a corporation, except as otherwise provided by statute, the Certificate of Formation or these Bylaws. In the absence or disability of the President, his/her duties shall be performed and his powers may be exercised by the Vice Presidents in the order of their seniority, unless otherwise determined by the President or the Board of Directors.

Section 5.7. Vice Presidents. Each Vice President shall generally assist the President and shall have such powers and perform such duties and services as shall from time to time be prescribed or delegated to him by the President or the Board of Directors.

Section 5.8. Secretary. The Secretary shall see that notice is given of all annual and special meetings of the Board of Directors and shall keep and attest true records of all proceedings at all meetings of the Board. He/she shall keep and account for all books, documents, papers and records of the Corporation, except those for which some other officer or agent is properly accountable. He/she shall generally perform all duties usually appertaining to the office of secretary of a corporation. In the absence or disability of the Secretary, his/her duties shall be performed and his/her powers may be exercised by the Assistant Secretaries in the order of their seniority, unless otherwise determined by the Secretary, the President or the Board of Directors.

Section 5.9. Assistant Secretaries. Each Assistant Secretary shall generally assist the Secretary and shall have such powers and perform such duties and services as shall from time to time be prescribed or delegated to him/her by the Secretary, the President, or the Board of Directors.

Section 5.10. Treasurer. If a Treasurer is elected, the Treasurer shall be the chief accounting and financial officer of the Corporation and shall have active control of and shall be responsible for all matters pertaining to the accounts and finances of the Corporation and shall direct the manner of certifying the same; shall supervise the manner of keeping all vouchers for payments by the Corporation and all other documents relating to such payments; shall receive, audit and consolidate all operating and financial statements of the Corporation and its various departments; shall have supervision of the books of accounts of the Corporation, their

arrangements and classifications; shall supervise the account and auditing practices of the Corporation and shall have charge of all matters relating to taxation. The Treasurer shall have the care and custody of all monies, funds and securities of the Corporation; shall deposit or cause to be deposited all such funds in and with such depositories as the Board of Directors shall from time to time direct or as shall be selected in accordance with procedures established by the Board; shall advise upon all terms of credit granted by the Corporation; shall be responsible for the collection of all its accounts and shall cause to be kept full and accurate accounts of all receipts, disbursements and contributions of the Corporation. He/she shall have the power to endorse for deposit or collection or otherwise all checks, drafts, notes, bills of exchange or other commercial papers payable to the Corporation, and to give proper receipts or discharges for all payments to the Corporation. The Treasurer shall generally perform all duties usually appertaining to the office of treasurer of a corporation. In the absence or disability of the Treasurer, his/her duties shall be performed and his/her powers may be exercised by the Assistant Treasurers in the order of their seniority, unless otherwise determined by the Treasurer, the President or the Board of Directors.

Section 5.11. Assistant Treasurer. Each Assistant Treasurer shall generally assist the Treasurer and shall have such powers and perform such duties and services as shall from time to time be prescribed or delegated to him/her by the Treasurer, the President or Board of Directors.

Section 5.12. Additional Powers and Duties. In addition to the foregoing especially enumerated duties, services and powers, the several elected and appointed officers of the Corporation shall perform such other duties and services and exercise such further powers as may be provided by statute, the Certificate of Formation or these Bylaws, or as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine or as may be assigned to him/her by any competent superior officer.

ARTICLE SIX

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 6.1. Dividends Prohibited. No part of the net income of the Corporation shall inure to the benefit of any private individual and no dividend shall be paid and no part of the income of the Corporation shall be distributed to its directors or officers. The Corporation may pay compensation in a reasonable amount to its officers for services rendered and may reimburse its directors as provided in Section 11 of Article Two hereof.

Section 6.2. Loans to Officers and Directors Prohibited. No loans shall be made by the Corporation to its officers and directors, and any directors voting for or assenting to the making of any such loan, and any officer participating in the making thereof, shall be jointly and severally liable to the Corporation for the amount of such loan until repayment thereof.

Section 6.3. Signature on Negotiable Instruments. All bills, notes, checks or other instruments for the payment of money shall be signed or countersigned by such officer, officers,

agent or agents, and in such manner, as are permitted by these Bylaws and as from time to time may be prescribed by resolution (whether general or special) of the Board of Directors.

Section 6.4. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors.

Section 6.5. Conflict of Interest Policy. The Corporation shall adopt and follow a conflict of interest policy approved by the Board and consistent with any policy suggested by the Internal Revenue Service for exempt organizations.

ARTICLE SEVEN

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The Corporation shall indemnify a director of the Corporation against reasonable expenses incurred by him in connection with a proceeding in which he is named defendant or respondent because he is or was such a director, as the case may be, if he has been wholly successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of the proceeding, unless such indemnification is limited by the Certificate of Formation. The Corporation shall also indemnify a director who was, is, or is threatened to be made a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding because the person is or was a director against any judgments, penalties (including excise and similar taxes), fines, settlements and reasonable expenses actually incurred by the person in connection with the proceeding if it is determined, in the manner described below, that the person (i) conducted himself in good faith, (ii) reasonably believed, in the case of conduct in his official capacity as a director of the Corporation, that his conduct was in the Corporation's best interests, and in all other cases, that his conduct was at least not opposed to the Corporation's best interests, and (iii) in the case of any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful; provided that if the proceeding was brought by or on behalf of the Corporation, the indemnification shall be limited to reasonable expenses actually incurred by the person in connection with the proceeding; and provided further that a director may not be indemnified for obligations resulting from a proceeding (i) in which such director is found liable on the basis that he improperly received personal benefit, whether or not the benefit resulted from an action taken in such director's official capacity, or (ii) in which the director is found liable to the Corporation. Determinations that a person has satisfied the prescribed conduct and belief standards must be made (i) by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or respondents in the proceeding, (ii) if such a quorum cannot be obtained, by a majority vote of a committee of the Board of Directors designated to act in the matter by a majority vote of all directors and consisting solely of two (2) or more directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or respondents in the proceeding, or (iii) by special legal counsel selected by the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board by vote as set forth in clause (i) or (ii) of this sentence, or, if the quorum described in clause (i) cannot be obtained and the committee described in clause (ii) cannot be established, by a majority vote of all directors. A determination as to reasonableness of expenses shall be made in the same manner as the determination that the person has satisfied the

prescribed conduct and belief standards, except that if the determination that the person has satisfied the prescribed conduct and belief standards is made by special legal counsel, the determination as to reasonableness of expenses shall be made by the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board by vote as set forth in clause (i) or (ii) of the immediately preceding sentence or, if such a quorum cannot be obtained and such a committee cannot be established, by a majority vote of all directors. The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement or conviction, or on a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent is not of itself determinative that the person did not meet the requirements for indemnification set forth above. Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, the Corporation shall pay or reimburse expenses incurred by a director in connection with his appearance as a witness or other participation in a proceeding at a time when he is not a named defendant or respondent in the proceeding.


ARTICLE EIGHT


AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed, or new Bylaws may be adopted at any annual or special meeting of the Board of Directors by the affirmative vote of a majority of the number of the Directors then in office, provided notice of the proposed alteration, amendment or repeal or adoption be contained in the notice of such meeting.

SECRETARY CERTIFICATE

The undersigned Secretary of the Corporation hereby certifies that the foregoing Bylaws were adopted by the Board of Directors of the Corporation on the date set forth below such Secretary's signature affixed hereto.


Joelle R. Silva (Jun 3, 2021 18:12 CDT)
Joelle Silva – President
Kennedale Wildcat Theatre Booster Club


Robert Green (Jun 3, 2021 10:20 CDT)
Robert Green - Secretary
Kennedale Wildcat Theatre Booster Club

Date Bylaws Adopted: 06/02/2021